RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-16-2009 SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

KAREN SCHILL, TRACI PRONGA, KIMBERLY MARTIN, ROBERT DRESSER, and MARK LARSON,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

Appeal No. 2008AP000967 v.

Circuit Court Case No. 2007CV000304

WISCONSIN RAPIDS SCHOOL DISTRICT, and ROBERT CRIST,

Defendants-Respondents,

and

DON BUBOLZ,

Intervenor-Respondent.

On Certification By The Court Of Appeals District IV Of An Appeal From The Circuit Court For Wood County The Honorable Charles A. Pollex, Adams County Circuit Court Judge Presiding

PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS' BRIEF AND APPENDIX

ISSUES PRESENTED
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION1
INTRODUCTION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 4
ARGUMENT 7
I. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' PERSONAL EMAILS MAINTAINED ON GOVERNMENT-OWNED COMPUTERS ARE NOT RECORDS AS DEFINED BY THE PUBLIC RECORDS LAW
A. The Storage Of The Personal Emails On Government-Owned Computers Is Insufficient To Render Them Public Records
B. Other Jurisdictions Uniformly Exempt Personal Emails That Have No Substantial Nexus To Government Business From Public Record Laws 13
II. EVEN IF THE EMAILS ARE PUBLIC RECORDS, THEY SHOULD NOT BE RELEASED BECAUSE THE PUBLIC INTEREST IN PROTECTING INDIVIDUAL PRIVACY AND REPUTATIONAL RIGHTS OUTWEIGHS ANY INTEREST IN DISCLOSURE 17
III. IF THE COURT FINDS THE EMAILS ARE SUBJECT TO DISCLOSURE, IT SHOULD ORDER THE DISTRICT TO REDACT THE PERSONAL TEXT AND PERSONAL EMAIL ADDRESSES
CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Armada Broadcasting, Inc. v. Stirn, 183 Wis. 2d 463, 516 N.W.2d 357 (1994)18
Beard v. Lee Enterprises, Inc., 225 Wis. 2d 1, 591 N.W.2d 156 (1999)9
Brennan v. Giles County Bd. Of Educ., No. M2004-00998-COA-R3-CV, 2005 WL 1996625 (Tenn. Ct. App. Aug. 18, 2005) (unpublished)
Building and Constr. Trades Council of South Cent. Wisconsin v. Waunakee Cmty. Sch. Dist., 221 Wis. 2d 575, 585 N.W.2d 726 (Ct. App. 1998)9
Center for Public Integrity v. FCC, 505 F. Supp. 2d 106 (D.C. Cir. 2007)25
Cowles Pub. Co. v. Kootenai County Bd. of County Comm'rs, 159 P.3d 869 (Idaho 2007)13
Denver Publ'g Co. v. Board of County Comm'rs of the County of Arapahoe, 121 P.3d 190 (Colo. 2005)
Fischer v. Mt. Olive Lutheran Church, 207 F. Supp. 2d 914 (W.D. Wis. 2002)18
Griffis v. Pinal County, 156 P.3d 418 (Ariz. 2007)13, 14, 15, 16
Hempel v. City of Baraboo, 2005 WI 120, 284 Wis. 2d 162, 699 N.W.2d 5517, 16, 17, 18, 22
<pre>In re John Doe Proceeding v. State of Wisconsin, 2004 WI 65, 272 Wis. 2d 208, 680 N.W.2d 792 (2004)</pre>
Linzmeyer v. Forcey, 2002 WI 84, 254 Wis. 2d. 306, 646 N.W.2d. 811

Newspapers, Inc. v. Breier, 89 Wis. 2d 417, 279 N.W.2d 179 (1979)17, 18
Nulankeyutmonen Nkihtaqmikon v. Bureau of Indian Affairs, 493 F. Supp. 2d 91 (D. Me. 2007)
Pulaski County v. Arkansas Democrat-Gazette, Inc., 260 S.W.3d 718 (Ark. 2007)13, 15
Reliant Energy Power Generation, Inc. v. Federal Energy Regulatory Comm'n, 520 F. Supp. 2d 194 (D.C. Cir. 2007)
State v. Harvey, 242 Wis. 2d 189, 625 N.W.2d 892 (Ct. App. 2001)
State v. Panknin, 217 Wis. 2d 200, 579 N.W.2d 52 (Ct. App. 1998)11
State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110
State ex rel. Morke v. Record Custodian, Department of Health & Social Services, 159 Wis. 2d 722, 465 N.W.2d 235 (1990)20
State ex rel. Wilson-Simmons v. Lake County Sheriff's Department, 693 N.E.2d 789 (Ohio 1998)
State ex rel. Youmans v. Owens, 28 Wis. 2d 672, 137 N.W.2d 470 (1965)17
State of Florida v. City of Clearwater, 863 So. 2d 149 (Fla. 2003)13, 14, 15, 16
Tiberino v. Spokane County, 13 P.3d 1104 (Wash. Ct. App. 2000)13, 23, 25
Watkins v. L.M. Berry & Co., 704 F.2d 577 (11 th Cir. 1983)
Watton v. Hegerty, 2008 WI 74, 311 Wis.2d 52, 751 N.W.2d 36915

Statutes

Wis. Stat. § 16.61 (2007-2008)10, 12			
Wis. Stat §§ 19.31 - 19.39 (2007-2008)5			
Wis. Stat. § 19.31 (2007-2008)9, 20			
Wis. Stat. § 19.32 (2007-2008)			
Wis. Stat. § 19.36(10) (2007-2008)25			
Wis. Stat. § 902.01(2) (2007-2008)12			
Other Authorities			
72 Op. Att'y Gen. 99 (1983)9			
Attorney General Memorandum, Wisconsin Department of Justice, Office of the Attorney General11			
of Justice, Office of the Attorney General11 Wisconsin Department of Administration <i>E-mail</i>			
of Justice, Office of the Attorney General			

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Are employees' purely personal emails created and/or maintained on a government-owned computer system public records under the Public Records Law; and
- 2. If so, are they subject to release under the balancing test when they offer no information regarding the affairs of government, and the strong public interest in protecting Wisconsin citizens' privacy and reputational interests outweighs the public interest in disclosure?

The circuit court answered these questions: "Yes."

On April 30, 2009, the court of appeals certified the appeal to the Wisconsin Supreme Court "to determine if the employees' personal emails are public records and, if they are, whether public policy reasons outweigh the public's interest in disclosure." The Court accepted the case on June 16, 2009.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Plaintiffs-Appellants Karen Schill, Traci Pronga,
Kimberly Martin, Robert Dresser, and Mark Larson request
oral argument and publication because, as the court of
appeals noted, whether and to what extent public employees'
personal emails are subject to the Public Records Law is an
issue of first impression in Wisconsin. The Court's

guidance regarding this issue is critical as its decision will affect public employees statewide.

INTRODUCTION

The Legislature created the Wisconsin Public Records

Law to provide the public with information regarding the

acts of government. The law was not designed to expose

purely personal information regarding public employees'

private lives.

In this case, a citizen made a public records request to the Wisconsin Rapids School District ("District") for the emails from five teachers' school computers during a six-week period. The District decided to release all the emails on the computers as public records, even though some emails contained purely personal content, such as an email from a teacher to her spouse about childcare responsibilities, and an email from a friend to a teacher regarding social plans. The teachers challenged the release of their personal emails.

The District's decision to release the personal emails misconstrues the law because personal materials are not public "records" as defined by the law. Given the Public Record Law's underlying principle of providing access to the workings of government, it is the content and nature of the document, not solely its physical location at a governmental office, which determines whether the document is a public record.

Even if the personal emails were public records, they should not be released. There is no public interest in disclosing the personal information in these emails such as childcare responsibilities, dinner arrangements and social plans, yet there is a significant public interest in protecting Wisconsin citizens' privacy and reputational interests, as well as the effective functioning of public institutions. Given this imbalance, any presumption favoring disclosure is overcome. The Court should enjoin the District from disclosing the teachers' personal emails as public records.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Karen Schill, Traci Pronga, Kimberly Martin, Robert
Dresser, and Mark Larson (collectively referred to as
"Teachers") are teachers in the District. (R.4,5; AAp.153,159). In April 2007, Don Bubolz sent the District
an open records request for the emails "from the computer
[the Teachers] use during their school work day" from
March 1, 2007, through April 13, 2007. (R.4; A-Ap.157).
Shortly thereafter, the District notified the Teachers that
it intended to release all of the Teachers' emails as
public records pursuant to Mr. Bubolz's request. (R.4,5;
A-Ap.154,159).

The District's Network and Internet Acceptable Use Policy ("Computer Policy") allowed the Teachers to use the District's email for personal use. (R.4,5,10; A-Ap.148,153,159). As a result, some of the emails the District chose to release pursuant to Mr. Bubolz's request are purely personal emails that do not relate to the District or to any official acts of government. (R.4,5; A-Ap.154,159). The District agrees that none of the Teachers used the District's email inappropriately or violated its Computer Policy by sending the personal emails. (R.13; A-Ap.130).

The Teachers did not object to the release of their work-related emails, but commenced an action in circuit court to enjoin the District from releasing their personal emails. (R.4; A-Ap.152-157). The Teachers asserted that the personal emails were not subject to release under the Wisconsin Public Records Law, Wis. Stat. §§ 19.31 - 19.39¹, because: (1) personal emails are not "records" under the Public Records Law; and (2) even if the personal emails are records, under the balancing test, the privacy and reputational rights of Wisconsin citizens in their personal

¹ All statutory references are to the 2007-2008 statutes unless otherwise noted.

emails outweigh any public interest in disclosure. (R.7; A-Ap.163-171).

The circuit court rejected the Teachers' position and ordered the release of the personal emails. (R.13; A-Ap.133). The circuit court found that the personal emails were records, without any analysis, and that they should be disclosed under the balancing test, largely because of the presumption favoring disclosure under the law. (R.13; A-Ap.127). The Teachers subsequently asked the circuit court to reconsider its decision to release the entire email as a public record, and instead order the District to redact purely personal text and any personal email addresses prior to release. (R.18; A-Ap.107-111). The circuit court denied the Teachers' motion. (R.18; A-Ap.111-113). The Teachers appealed to the court of appeals. On April 30, 2009, the court of appeals certified the appeal to this Court. (A-Ap.101-106). On June 16, 2009, the Court accepted the case. The Teachers ask this Court to reverse the circuit court's decision and enjoin the District from releasing their personal emails.

ARGUMENT

I. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' PERSONAL EMAILS MAINTAINED ON GOVERNMENT-OWNED COMPUTERS ARE NOT RECORDS AS DEFINED BY THE PUBLIC RECORDS LAW

The Court should reverse the circuit court's ruling because public employees' personal emails maintained on government-owned computers are not records as defined by the Public Records Law. The Court performs a two-step analysis to determine whether a record custodian should release material pursuant to a public records request. Linzmeyer v. Forcey, 2002 WI 84, 254 Wis. 2d 306, 646 N.W.2d 811. First, the Court determines whether the Public Records Law applies to the materials in question by reviewing the statutory language, and then any statutory and common law exceptions. Id. at ¶10. If the law applies, then the second step is to determine if other public policy exceptions overcome the law's presumption of openness. Id. The application of the Public Records Law is a question of law entitled to de novo review. Hempel v. City of Baraboo, 2005 WI 120, ¶21, 284 Wis. 2d 162, 699 N.W.2d 551.

The Public Records Law does not apply to the personal emails because they are not public "records" as defined by the law. In construing a statute, the Court begins with the statutory language. State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit

Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. The Legislature defined the term public "record" as:

any material on which written, drawn, printed, spoken, visual or electromagnetic information is recorded or preserved, regardless of physical form or characteristics, which has been created or is being kept by an authority. "Record" includes, but is not limited to, handwritten, typed or printed pages, maps, charts, photographs, films, recordings, tapes (including computer tapes), computer printouts and optical disks. "Record" does not include drafts, notes, preliminary computations and like materials prepared for the originator's personal use or prepared by the originator in the name of a person for whom the originator is working; materials which are purely the personal property of the custodian and have no relation to his or her office; materials to which access is limited by copyright, patent or bequest; and published materials in the possession of an authority other than a public library which are available for sale, or which are available for inspection at a public library.

Wis. Stat. § 19.32(2) (emphasis added). Based on the plain language of § 19.32(2) above, personal emails fall outside the definition of public records. The Teachers certainly prepared the personal emails for their "personal use."

They did not prepare them in the context of their job duties; they do not relate to school district business; and neither the Teachers nor the District relied on them to make business-related decisions. Thus, under the statute's

plain language, the personal emails are not "records" subject to disclosure.

Not only does the plain meaning support such a finding, but the context in which "record" is defined does Statutes are interpreted in the context in which they are used, not in isolation, but as part of a whole, in relation to the language of surrounding, or closely-related statutes. State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58 at ¶46; see also Beard v. Lee Enterprises, Inc., 225 Wis. 2d 1, 22, 591 N.W.2d 156 (1999) (statutes are to be interpreted in a manner that advances the purposes of the law). The Public Records Law's purpose is to give the public "the greatest possible information regarding the affairs of government and the official acts of those officers and employees who represent them." Wis. Stat. § 19.31 (emphasis added); see also Building and Constr. Trades Council of South Cent. Wisconsin v. Waunakee Cmty. Sch. Dist., 221 Wis. 2d 575, 585 N.W.2d 726 (Ct. App. 1998) (the purpose of the Public Records Law is to shed light on the workings of government). As a result, "public records must have some relation to the functions of the agency." 72 Op. Att'y Gen. 99 (1983).

In addition, the law excludes "materials which are purely the personal property of the custodian and have no

relation to his or her office." Wis. Stat. § 19.32(2).

Moreover, regarding the state's duty to retain public records, the law defines public records as materials that are "made, or received by any state agency or its officers or employees in connection with the transaction of public business. . . ." Wis. Stat. § 16.61 (2)(b) (emphasis added). Viewed in this context, the Teachers' personal emails are not "records" under the law because they have no connection to any governmental purpose or function. They are purely personal in nature.

A. The Storage Of The Personal Emails On Government-Owned Computers Is Insufficient To Render Them Public Records

Even though the District retained the personal emails on a government-owned computer, it takes more than a material's physical location to render the material a public record. The Wisconsin Attorney General's Office has instructed that: "Content, not medium or format, determines whether [a] document is a 'record' or not." Wisconsin Public Records Law Compliance Outline, Wisconsin Department of Justice Office of the Attorney General, p. 3, 2008. (A-Ap.193). The content must have some nexus to official duties or governmental business. See In re John Doe Proceeding v. State of Wisconsin, 2004 WI 65, ¶45, 272 Wis. 2d 208, 237, 680 N.W.2d 792, 805 (2004) ("not everything a

public official creates is a public record"); see also

State v. Panknin, 217 Wis. 2d 200, 212-213, 579 N.W.2d 52

(Ct. App. 1998) (holding that the personal notes of a sentencing judge were not public records). Here, the content of the personal emails has nothing to do with the District, the Teachers' duties or the Teachers' employment. Emails from the Teachers to their spouses, partners and friends about personal business such as social plans or childcare responsibilities are not public records.

The circuit court's ruling to the contrary overturns administratively sanctioned practices regarding this issue. While no Wisconsin court has directly addressed this issue, at least several prominent legal authorities and record custodians apply a content-driven test based on the law and do not consider purely personal emails to be public records. The Wisconsin Attorney General's Office has opined in an internal memorandum that teachers' (and other public employees') purely personal emails are not public records because they were not created in connection with official business. See Attorney General Memorandum, Wisconsin Department of Justice, Office of the Attorney General. (R.7; A-Ap.152-156). The Office of the Milwaukee City Attorney, represented in this case by Melanie Swank, the editor of the Wisconsin Bar Association's The Wisconsin Public Records and Open Meetings Handbook, filed an amicus brief in the court of appeals informing the court that the "City Attorney has consistently advised that personal communications are not 'records' as defined by Wis. Stat. § 19.32(2)." (Amicus Brief, p. 1). The City of Madison has filed a motion for permission to file a non-party brief in this action joining the City of Milwaukee's position.

The Department of Administration (DOA) has also adopted a content-driven test for its record retention obligations pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 16.61. Under Wis. Stat. § 16.61(2)(b)5, as under the Public Records Law, public records do not include "materials prepared for the originator's personal use." Wis. Stat. § 16.61(2)(b)5. The DOA has prepared an "E-mail Records Management Training" for state employees regarding their obligations under this statute. (A-Ap.177-189). In that training, the DOA advises that emails "should be evaluated by content and function to determine whether the message is a record." (A-Ap.177). The DOA further states that personal material such as "non-work related mail" are not public records.

 $^{^2}See~ http://www.doa.state.wi.us/docs_view2.asp?docid=6081 (last visited 7/15/09). (A-Ap.177-189). The court may take judicial notice of this fact as its accuracy can be readily verifiable by going to the DOA's website. Wis. Stat. § 902.01(2); State v. Harvey, 242 Wis. 2d 189, 197, 625 N.W.2d 892, 896 (Ct. App. 2001).$

diverges from this sound analysis by these record custodians.

B. Other Jurisdictions Uniformly Exempt Personal Emails That Have No Substantial Nexus To Government Business From Public Records Laws

The circuit court's opinion also contradicts other state appellate courts' uniform holdings that personal emails are not disclosed as public records without a substantial nexus to government business. State of Florida v. City of Clearwater, 863 So. 2d 149 (Fla. 2003); Griffis v. Pinal County, 156 P.3d 418 (Ariz. 2007); State ex rel. Wilson-Simmons v. Lake County Sheriff's Department, 693 N.E.2d 789 (Ohio 1998); Denver Publ'q Co. v. Board of County Comm'rs of the County of Arapahoe, 121 P.3d 190 (Colo. 2005); Pulaski County v. Arkansas Democrat-Gazette, Inc., 260 S.W.3d 718 (Ark. 2007); Cowles Pub. Co. v. Kootenai County Bd. of County Comm'rs, 159 P.3d 869 (Idaho 2007); Tiberino v. Spokane County, 13 P.3d 1104 (Wash. Ct. App. 2000); Brennan v. Giles County Bd. Of Educ., No. M2004-00998-COA-R3-CV, 2005 WL 1996625 (Tenn. Ct. App. Aug. 18, 2005)(unpublished). Neither the District, nor Mr. Bubolz, nor the circuit court cited any authority diverging from this national consensus, and the Teachers are unaware of any contrary authority.

This case most closely resembles the *Clearwater* case where the newspaper sought a court order compelling the city to release all emails sent from or received by two city employees over the city's computer network during a certain time period. 863 So. 2d at 151. The city sorted the emails into two categories: personal and public. The city released the public emails, but did not release the personal emails.

The Florida Supreme Court held that personal emails did not fall within the definition of public records because they were not made or received in connection with the transaction of official business. Id. at 155. The court reasoned that "private documents cannot be deemed public records solely by the virtue of their placement on an agency-owned computer. The determining factor is the nature of the record, not its physical location." Id. at 154. The court stressed that a document subject to release must be in some way connected to "official business." Id. at 152. The court enjoined the release of the personal emails.

Similarly, in *Griffis*, 156 P.3d at 418, a public employee accused of misusing public funds filed an action to block the release of personal emails he had sent or received on the county's computer system. The Arizona

Supreme Court held that emails maintained on a governmentowned computer system are not automatically public records.

Id. at 421. The records must possess the requisite nexus
to official duties in order to be public records. Id.

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