### COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT IV

KAREN SCHILL, TRACI PRONGA, KIMBERLY MARTIN, ROBERT DRESSER and MARK LARSON,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

WISCONSIN RAPIDS SCHOOL DISTRICT AND ROBERT

Appeal No. 2008AOP000967

CRIST

Defendants-Respondents,

Circuit Court Case No. 07CV304

and

DON BUBOLZ,

Intervenor-Respondent.

Appeal From The Circuit Court For Wood County The Honorable Charles A. Pollex, Adams County Circuit Court Judge Presiding

### BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS-RESPONDENTS WISCONSIN RAPIDS SCHOOL DISTRICT AND ROBERT CRIST

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

- (1) Whether correspondences on public employee's government-owned computer system are public records regardless of whether the contents of the email correspondences are purely personal or related to the conduct of official business.
- (2) If the first issue is resolved in the affirmative, does the public's interest in maintaining the privacy of such correspondences outweigh the public records law's presumption in favor of disclosure?

The Circuit Court resolved the issues as follows:

- (1) As to issue one, the court found that the emails were public records.
- (2) As to issue two, the court found that the public's interest in non-disclosure did not outweigh the presumption in favor of disclosure and thus ordered disclosure.

### STATEMENT OF ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Respondent does not feel that oral argument will serve to better inform the court with respect to the issues presented and the relevant legal issues. Respondent does believe that publication of this opinion is important because there are currently no published Wisconsin court

opinions addressing the issues presented. With the enormous volume of communications accomplished through electronic means by public employees, the outcome of this case will have application statewide to all public employees and could provide much needed guidance to public employers statewide.

I. RESPONDENT ACTED AS CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS TO APPLY WISCONSIN'S PUBLIC RECORDS STATUTE TO THE REQUEST IN THIS MATTER AND DETERMINED THAT EMPLOYEE EMAILS ARE RECORDS AND THAT THE PRESUMPTION OF ACCESS WAS NOT OVERCOME BY ANY COUNTERVAILING PUBLIC INTEREST.

The Wisconsin Rapids School District, and the District Administrator, Robert Crist, are the custodians of the records at issue in this matter. As records custodians, they must evaluate each request from the starting point that a record within their possession is subject to public inspection. See Wis. Stat. § 19.31 ([public records law] shall be construed in every instance with a presumption of complete public access, consistent with the conduct of governmental business. The denial of public generally is contrary to the public interest, and only in an exceptional case may access be denied."); Wis. Stat. \$ 19.35(1) ("Except as otherwise provided by law, any requester has a right to inspect any record.").

Once the custodian establishes that it holds records responsive to a request, it must determine whether a statutory or common law principle nonetheless prohibits disclosure. Wis. Stat. § 19.35(4).

In this matter, the custodian, Respondent, evaluated the request and determined that it did hold records responsive to the request (to wit, records of email

correspondences sent and received on the named teachers' district email accounts); and that no countervailing principle required refusal to disclose.

A. Respondent determined that teacher email accounts and their contents are public records subject to disclosure pursuant to a request under Wis. Stat. § 19.31, et. seq.

Wisconsin statute section 19.32(2) defines the term "record" as that term is used throughout the public records The definition of record is extremely broad with statute. few limitations. The definition includes material that is (1)written, drawn, spoken, printed, visual orelectromagnetic information that is preserved regardless of physical form; and (2) being kept by an authority. Clearly, written email communication Stat. § 19.32(2). that passes through the District's (the "authority") email system and is archived in that system meets the initial components of the definition of what constitutes a record. The communications are both preserved communications and are being kept by the authority.

The District has from the very beginning stated that it would redact any information contained in those emails that was confidential and protected from disclosure, specifically this includes any student record information and any personal identifiable information, such as social security numbers, bank account numbers, etc. This redaction determination is likewise reflected in the circuit court's order.

The Association in this matter argues that District did not have to retain the purely personal email records of teachers under Wis. Stat. 16.61(2)(b) as those records are not created "in connection with the transaction of public business." Assoc. Br. at 7. The Association's discussion is irrelevant to the matter before the court in this case and it is a circular argument that requires the very conclusion of what constitutes a record that the Association is litigating in this case. In effect, this is what the court is being asked to determine. The position is irrelevant because, regardless of whether the District had to maintain the teachers' emails as records, it did so. Once those emails were maintained by the District, they continued to be records of the district and subject to the Whether a record public records statutes. maintained and whether one is subject to release are two entirely different issues. See State ex rel. Gehl v. Connors, 2007 WI App 238, ¶ 13, 306 Wis. 2d 247, 742 N.W.2d 530.

The Association seeks to connect the language and purpose of the record retention statute to inform the scope of the records statute. This raises some of the practical complications with conducting business in the age of rapid

technological communications that automatically create retainable copies. First, the discussion raises practical issue: it is simply not feasible to review each and every electronic communication sent and received on the determine District's email system to whether communication is personal or relates to the conduct of its in the context of Addressing this issue business. retention, rather than pursuant to an actual request, would mean reviewing each and every single email, sent received on the system. This would certainly be a monumental task and could result in the destruction of records that ought to have been maintained.

To a great extent the Association's position in this regard also begs the very question at issue here — what is a record created in the conduct of business? Is it a record created in the furtherance of official business of the entity or is it much broader to include any record created with the entity's resources and/or on public time? This is the crux of the issue before this court and one that cannot be answered purely by resort to the records retention statute.

We now turn back to the review process performed by the District in this matter. The District determined that

it did maintain the emails that were requested. It then turned to the definition of "record" within the applicable statute, Wis. Stat. § 19.32(2). The Association essentially submits two methods of parsing the language of this statutory section to reach the determination that personal emails of teachers are not records. First, the Association points to the following sentence:

"'Record' does not include drafts, notes, preliminary computations and like materials prepared for the originator's personal use"

Wis. Stat. \$19.32(2).

Respondent, in evaluating the request, simply reviewed the statutory language. The language cited above is inapposite to the question at issue because, the emails were not prepared for the teachers' own personal use. The emails were communicated by or to another party and thus were never solely for their own personal use. The statutory section refers to the personal notes or drafts maintained by the public employee. For example, in State v. Panknin, 217 Wis. 2d. 200, 209-210, 579 N.W.2d 52 (Ct. App. 1998) the court held that notes maintained by a judge in a criminal matter before that judge are not public records. The notes were held for the purpose of

formulating a decision and for the judge's own personal reflection. Id. Such is not the case with the emails at issue here. First, there is no indication that they are notes for any larger purpose or that they are drafts of some not yet completed final composition. They are final form communications to other persons and as such are not for their own personal use and reflection and thus are not excluded from the statutory definition of records. significantly, addition, and perhaps most communications were transmitted through the controlled email system which archives those communications the District records retention structure. within Accordingly, they ceased to be purely the personal notes or drafts of the writer, because they now belong to and are under the exclusive control of the District. fact that distinguishes teacher emails from a handwritten grocery list in a desk drawer.

Second, the Association points to the following clause within the definition of "Record" as a basis to exclude the emails at issue:

"'Record' does not include materials which are purely the personal property of the *custodian* and have no relation to his or her office."

Wis. Stat. § 19.32(2).

This language also fails to resolve the issue, because the individual teachers in this case are not "custodians". Custodians are designated by Wisconsin statute section 19.33 to include elected officials and their designees. Wis. Stat. § 19.33 et seq. Individual teachers within the school district are not record's custodians. Whether these emails "have no relation to" the professional duties of the teachers is also a questionable position. It is the use of public resources at issue that places the records in the position of a record subject to disclosure. The public has an interest in monitoring how the resources it finances are used by the public employees that use them. See Zellner v. Cedarburg Sch. Dist., 2007 WI 53, ¶¶ 45-58, 300 Wis.2d. 290, 731 N.W.2d 240. In that sense, the teachers' use of their district computers, regardless of whether school policy allows for reasonable personal usage, connects that usage to the teachers' public employment. Again, as noted previously, the District retains the emails through its archiving and retention system. These emails then cannot be said to be purely the teacher's personal property.

In reviewing the applicable statutory provisions, the District determined that the emails were records.

Respondent began its required review of the request from the presumption of openness and access, and concluded that nothing within the exclusions from the term "Record" pertained to these emails with sufficient clarity to overcome that presumption.

# B. The District determined that the Public Interest in Disclosure and the Presumption of Disclosure Are Not Outweighed by The Public Interest in Not Disclosing the Teachers' Emails.

District determined Once the that no statutory exclusion or exemption prohibited it from disclosing the records sought, the District then performed the common law balancing test. Linzmeyer v. Forcey, 2002 WI 84 ¶¶ 10-20, 254 Wis.2d. 306, 646 N.W. 2d 811. The presumption in favor of disclosure of records is "one of the strongest declarations of policy to be found in the Wisconsin statutes." Zellner, 2007 WI 53, ¶ 49. To overcome this presumption, there must be compelling public interest in maintaining the confidentiality of the requested materials. Local 2489, AFSCME, AFL-CIO v. Rock County, 2004 WI App 210, ¶¶ 21, 277 Wis.2d. 208, 689 N.W.2d 644. The individual record subject's personal embarrassment is not sufficient to overcome the presumption of disclosure. Linzmeyer, 2002 WI 84,  $\P$  34-35. The court must look at the public detriment arising out of the failure to protect the individual employee's personal privacy interests. *Id.* 

In the instant matter, it is difficult to conceive of a public interest in protecting the privacy interest of individual teachers who choose to use their district-owned computers to engage in personal communications, with the exception of otherwise protected items which would be redacted (social security numbers, bank account numbers, While it may be true that public access to those records in many cases is of limited value, the reality is that the presumption is on the side of disclosure. As the authority over the records, it is the District's responsibility, not to determine if there exists sufficient public interest in access to the records, but rather to sufficient public determine whether interest in disclosing the records overcomes the presumption towards The Association's analysis puts the required disclosure. process on its head and requires records requestors to establish that their request serves some public interest. The public records statute in Wisconsin, for better or for worse, is not designed in that fashion. In fact, the statutes state that a requestor need not state his or her records. Wis. for requesting the purpose

19.35(1)(i). Whether a request, therefore, is motivated by some greater public interest is not relevant to the custodian's review of whether the requested records are in fact records subject to disclosure.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court stated the following:

Finally, although we recognize the importance of protecting privacy and interests, reputation applying common-law balancing test articulated by this court in Linzmeyer, we hold that the presumption of complete public a public access, based on determination that records usually be open for review, outweighs the public's interest in protecting privacy and reputation interests of a citizen such as Zellner in this case.

Zellner, 2007 WI 53, ¶ 58. (Citation omitted).

From the above language of the Supreme Court, the District felt it was compelled to conclude that Wisconsin's tradition and public policy of maintaining strong privacy rights of its citizens did not overcome its even stronger policy of access to records of governmental entities. In that sense, whether the communications emanated from within or from outside of the entity, their retention within the District's system made them a record subject to disclosure. The District then could not in good faith determine that some public interest prevented their disclosure.

It may be appropriate - even wise - for the legislature to specifically exempt certain email communications sent and/or received by public employees from public records. As the law currently stands however, the District felt the only responsible conclusion was that there is insufficient basis for a records custodian to exclude emails such as those in this case from disclosure, given the law's presumption in favor of disclosure.

# II. THE ASSOCIATION'S ARGUMENT THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DECISION WILL INCREASE COSTS AS IT REQUIRES GOVERNMENTS TO SORT THROUGH EMAILS IS MISLEADING.

The Association argues in its brief that the court ought to prevent the disclosure of personal emails of public employees due to the cost of maintaining, sorting, and storing the communications such a decision will create. Assoc. Br. at 12. It is unclear whether this is another purported pubic interest in non-disclosure argument or merely an invitation for the court to adopt a cost-reduction analysis to determine access under the public records law. In either event, the position misses the mark.

If "purely personal" email correspondences are not public records, the District would have to either (1) review all email correspondences to determine those that

are personal and those that are business related to determine what to retain and what to destroy — an immensely expensive proposition to say the least; or (2) review all such communications responsive to a request to determine which are purely personal and which are business related. In the case of the latter process, the district would have to review all of the communications as it currently does (no cost reduction) and would be making decisions about what is personal and what is business—related, which can often be a very difficult distinction to make. Finally, it is the reality that many communications contain a mix of personal and professional communications thus requiring review and reduction in any event.

## III. WHETHER A RECORD CONTAINS A MIX OF MATERIALS SUBJECT TO DISCLOSURE AND NOT SUBJECT TO DISCLOSURE IS NOT A BASIS TO WITHHOLD THE ENTIRE RECORD.

The Association's brief suggests that disclosure of the emails at issue is necessary because correspondences contain may contain personal or information, such as bank account numbers, and student record information. Assoc. Br. at 14. Both the District's initial decision and the circuit court's order stated that such information will be redacted prior to disclosure. This concern is not a dispositive consideration.

court, as the circuit court before it, should address this concern by acknowledging the right of the custodian to redact such information in the event it is contained within the requested material.

### IV. CONCLUSION

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